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This legislation will designate the “Parkway Theatre”, located at 3 West North Avenue, as a Baltimore City
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over a century.

Your favorable support is requested. Thank you for you for consideration.

ce; Hon. Carl Stokes
Ms. Angela Gibson, Mayor’s Legislative Liaison to the City Council

COMMISSION FOR HISTORICAL & ARCHITECTURAL PRESERVATION
Charles L. Benton, Jr. Building 417 East Fayette Street Eighth Floor  Baltimore, MD 21202-3416

Plan  Preserve  Prosper



The Commission for Historical and
Architectural Preservation

Landmark Designation Staff Report
August 14, 2012

The Parkway Theatre

3-9 W. North Avenue
Baltimore, Maryland



Summary

The Parkway Theatre was designed in 1915 in the Italian Renaissance Revival style by
architect Oliver B. Wight for the Northern Amusement Company. It was based off the
West End Theatre in London and the Strand Theatre in New York City. The Parkway
Theatre showed vaudeville and moving pictures, and from its inception was designed to
show talking pictures — over a decade before “talkies” were popular. It was likely the first
movie house in the United States that was wired and acoustically designed for sound. The
Parkway Theatre was one of the premier movie houses in Baltimore through the early
1950s, serving as a theatre into the 1970s.

Property History

The Parkway Theatre is located on the south side of W. North Ave, just west of the
intersection with N. Charles Street in the Station North neighborhood. It was designed in
1915 in the Italian Renaissance Revival style by architect Oliver B. Wight and
constructed by the J. Henry Miller Co. for the Northern Amusement Company for
$120,000." The Parkway Theatre showed vaudeville and moving pictures, including
talking pictures which weren’t popular until almost ten years later. The Parkway Theatre
was one of the top movie houses through the early 1950s, and served as a theatre into the
1970s.

The Parkway was constructed 1914-1915 on four developed lots at 3, 5, 7, and 9 W.
North Ave. This required the demolition of four white marble-front houses that were built
in 1886 for A.S. Abell, owner of the Baltimore Sun, and designed by Charles E. Cassell, a
prominent Baltimore architect.” The theatre was constructed by the Northern Amusement
Company and owned and operated by the Parkway Theatre Company. Henry W. Webb
was the president of both companies, which shared several of the same owners.” Webb
also owned and operated the Strand Theatre on Howard Street. and the McHenry Theatre
on Light Street, called the “Southern Parkway”.*

The Parkway Theatre opened its doors on October 23. 1915 to a packed house, showing
two screenings of the film “Zaza™ starring Pauline Frederick and accompanied by a full
orchestra. That night, the Parkway established itself as one of the premier movie houses
in the city. The 1.200 seat theatre was based off of the West End Cinema Theatre in
London and the Strand Theatre in New York both in several features, including its
architecture and the egg-shaped design of the theatre. This design provided excellent
views of the stage from every seat and perfected the acoustics of the space.” New
technology in the form of a large steel girder that ran the width of the building, allowed
for an unobstructed view of the stage from anywhere in the auditorium because it
eliminated the need for supporting columns.®

The theatre was praised for being an “exceedingly prettily finished house” with a
comfortably large lobby with a soda fountain and mezzanine-level tea room. The theatre
was decorated in the Louis XIV style. The ornately plastered ceilings and walls were



originally painted gray and gold, and the chandelier in the lobby was a replica of one at
the palace of Versailles.” It was applauded for its “chasteness™ in design, both interior and
exterior, with everything “in good taste, down to the smallest detail.”® The exterior was
also praised, for its simple architectural lines.” The lights on the roof and entrance of the
theatre were “an appreciable addition to the illuminations of North avenue” which was
noted for “fast becoming a nightly recreational centre for residents of the northern part of
the city.”"” The theatre catered to the elite of Baltimore, many of whom attended its one
year anniversary gala. The correspondent for Moving Picture World wondered “how
could anyone use the word ‘movie’ in connection with such dignity and art as this.”''

The Parkway was a first-class theatre, showing first-run films and offering other
enticements. It had an 11-piece live orchestra as well as a $15,000 Moller organ to
accompany silent films."” There was also a cameraman who filmed local news items that
were shown in the theatre only 24 hours later."” The theatre also had air-conditioning
early on — an enormous draw to theatre-goers in the sweltering summer months. A ¢.1916
photo depicts a sign on the theatre advertising that it was “Delightfully Cool - Always.”"

The Parkway was designed to show both moving-pictures and vaudeville acts, embracing
new forms of entertainment while also accommodating the old." In fact, the Parkway
Theatre was designed from the very beginning to show talking pictures — a radical
innovation that predated the “talkie™ era of films by more than a decade.'® These films
were intended to be one of the chief features of the Parkway, and it was likely the first
movie house in the United States that was wired and acoustically designed for sound."”
The talking pictures were created by Henry Webb's brother, George R. Webb. The
Parkway debuted a “singing picture” in 1917, which was the second act of the opera
Carmen, starring members of the Metropolitan Opera.'® Sadly, the entire venture came to
an untimely end with the death of George R. Webb in July 1919."

Only a few months after George’s death, Henry Webb, George’s brother and the
president of Parkway Theatre Company, sold the Parkway to the Century Theatre
Company, owned by Charles E. Whitehurst.”’ The Parkway joined Whitehurst’s
collection of first-run theatres in the 1910s and early 1920s, which included the New,
Garden, and Century Theatres.”'

Following Whitehurst’s death in 1924, the Parkway was sold in 1926 to the Century
Theatre Company, part of the Loew’s Corporation.”” The interior of the theatre was
extensively remodeled by Loew’s. Movietone and Vitaphone sound systems were
installed in 1928, because talkie films were by then embraced by Hollywood.” The
theatre exclusively showed MGM films.** In 1939, the theatre was again extensively
remodeled, and included the addition of a new marquee. The New Theatre Company,
owned by Morris Mechanic, purchased the property in 1952 and immediately closed the
theatr% The theatre changed hands again, and was then sold to Milton Schwaber in
1955.%

Schwaber turned the Parkway Theatre into 5 West, an art theatre. The interior was again
remodeled, with new seating and decor. The 5 West was a theatre for over twenty years.



It closed in 1974, but briefly reopened between 1976 and 1978.%° In the early 1980s. there
was interest in the building from the Left Bank Jazz Society, which wanted to convert the
theatre into a “Jazzeum.” but the project fell through. In 1989. Samuel Song Cho Chang
and other purchased the theatre and altered the interior of the first floor to serve as a retail
space.”” The space was later used for offices, and in 1998 it was leased to Michael
Johnson’s Heritage Shadows of the Silver Screen African American Film Museum and
Cinema for use as a theatre and museum. These plans did not come to fruition.2®

In 2002, an LLC owned by Charles Dodson, A&E Station North LLC, purchased the
property. Dodson undertook renovations of the property, and had a plan to reopen the
theatre. The City Council passed a resolution in 2004 that gave the Baltimore
Development Corporation (BDC) the authority to seize 19 properties in Station North,
including the Parkway Theatre. BDC offered to assist Dodson with renovation if Dodson
developed “serious plans™ for the project.”” By 2009, BDC had taken control of the
Parkway and awarded the Cormony/Pollack and Seawall Development Co. the exclusive
rights for the redevelopment of the Parkway and adjacent properties at 1 W. North
Avenue and 1820 N. Charles Street. In December 201 1, BDC terminated the agreement,
and issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for redevelopment.®’ Three proposals are
currently being considered by the BDC.*!

The Parkway Theatre is listed on the National Register of Historic Places as a
contributing building in the North Central Historic District.

Contextual History

The Parkway Theatre is an important site in Baltimore's history for its important role as a
elite first-run theatre, for its pioneering role in talking pictures, and for its architecture. In
a city with close to 120 movie theatres in the 1920s, the Parkway was one of ten elite
first-run theatres in Baltimore.™ It remained one of the top movie houses through the
carly 1950s. Unlike movie theatres today, where most theatres offer the same movies at
the same time, there was more competition in the early 20th century. Some theatres,
including the Parkway at certain points in its history, only screened first-run, or new,
films from a particular movie company. This exclusivity ensured customers. The majority
of theatres in Baltimore were second- or third-run theatres, showing films a certain
number of weeks after their release at more modest prices in smaller theatres.™

The theatre was designed by Oliver Birkhead Wight, a Baltimore-based architect and
member of the American Institute of Architects. He designed or altered over a dozen
theatres in Baltimore. His most famous theatre was the Parkway, but he also designed the
McHenry Theatre in Federal Hill, redesigned the Howard Theatre, and with A. Lowther
Forrest, designed the New Theatre.™ Built one year after the Parkway, the McHenry
Theatre was owned by Henry Webb’s Southern Amusement Company and was referred
to as the “Southern Parkway.”® The New Theatre was one of the earliest grand theatres
in Baltimore, but has been demolished. The Parkway is the best extant example of
Wight’s work.



The Parkway was the first documented theatre in the United States that was wired and
acoustically designed for sound. It showed “talkies™ almost a decade before they became
popular. The Parkway was designed to exclusively show the films of George R. Webb,
the brother of Parkway Theatre owner Henry W. Webb. George Webb was an astute
entrepreneur and businessman, engaged in transportation, utilities, and real estate
development, and sound technology. He began with a career with the Baltimore & Ohio
Railroad. At the turn-of-the-20th century, Webb and banker Henry Parr constructed the
Baltimore and Northern Railroad, and with Alexander Brown & Sons, he consolidated
the streetcars of Baltimore. He later founded the Maryland Telephone and Telegraph
Company. He also consolidated the United Railways of San Francisco, organized
telephone, light, and power companies in Pittsburgh, PA, and consolidated the streetcars,
light and telephone system in Wilmington, DE with Pierre du Pont and Harry Scott.*
Webb also developed the streetcar suburbs of West Arlington and Forest Park in
Baltimore.”’

Beginning in the 1910s, George Webb developed talking picture machines, which
stemmed from his background in the telephone business. Associates in his experiments
were Pierre du Pont and John Raskob, president and financial executive, respectively, of
DuPont and General Motors. His projects included his talking pictures, a magnaphone,
and “music by wire”, essentially, music over the telephone.”® Webb conducted his
experiments with talking pictures and other machines in the Hoen Building in downtown
Baltimore and at his home in West Arlington.” Webb had wanted to sell the magnaphone
to the English and French governments to help them in World War 1, but the war itself
had put an end to any business negotiations and limited the interest in his “talking and
moving-picture device” both nationally and abroad.*

Webb founded his film company in 1910 and showed his sound-synchronized films of
vaudeville, monologues, and operas in London, Paris, New York, and Baltimore in the
1910s.*' Webb's films were alternately called “Webb’s Electric Pictures”, “Webb’s
Talking Pictures™, and finally “Webb’s Talking and Singing Pictures™.*> Prior to the
construction of the Parkway Theatre, which exclusively showed Webb’s films, his
pictures were shown at two other theatres in Baltimore: Albaugh’s Theatre and the New
Academy of Music.” He produced the operas Faust, Rigoletto, and Il Pagliacci, along
with other short films.** These films were very well-received by audiences, and even as
carly as 1913, Webb was credited with “coming perilously close to changing ‘movie’
history”, but his technology needed a few more tweaks to perfectly synchronize sound
and picture.”” Webb's engineer, African American William P. Stuntz, is responsible for
Webb’s success with films, because Stuntz figured out how to synchronize film and
sound.*® The debut of Carmen at the Parkway Theatre exhibited the improvement of this
technology, and following this success, Webb announced the creation of a new film
company with Pierre du Pont and John Raskob, president and financial executive of
DuPont and General Motors, who had also been associates in his other en‘[er}:)rises.47
Sadly, tlle4<§ntire venture came to an untimely end with the death of George R. Webb in
July 1919.



His associates du Pont and Raskob ramped up their efforts to commercialize his invention
and sold patents in Canada, Japan, and several European countries. However, another
sound machine, the Vitaphone, was adopted by film company Warner Brothers in the US
in 1926, ushering in the era of talkies.*” George’s brother Henry Webb did show Webb’s
Talking Pictures in Baltimore in 1927, but did not garner interest from any film
companies. ™’

Architectural Description

The Parkway Theatre is designed in the Italian Renaissance Revival. The building is four
stories tall, three bays wide, and faced in a buff brick and white architectural terra cotta.
It is 65" wide and it is 115” deep. It is adjacent to a building on the east, and originally
was adjacent to a building on the west. The outer bays of the building are very narrow,
slightly set back from the center bay, and consist of double doors on the first floor and a
2/2 sash window with simple white terra cotta sill and lintels in each of the three upper
stories. The center bay dominates the building. The first floor is faced in white terra cotta,
and the majority of the bay projects slightly. A water table runs across the central bay.
Above the water table on either end of the bay are two empty poster display cases. The
wide central entrance is covered with an overhead roll down metal door. The marquee
used to be located above the entrance. It originally was a simple iron canopy, but it was
remodeled several times and was removed years ago.’!

Above the door is a white terra cotta belt course decorated with scroll wave and egg and
dart molding that runs across the entire length of the building. A simple intermediary
cornice demarcates the shift to the buff brick on the middle portion of the fagade. Set just
above the intermediary cornice and aligned with the entrance are six paired 18 pane
casement windows. Each window is topped with a white terra cotta archway with a
decorative fanlight with a central circular design. The windows are separated by two
Doric columns, and Doric pilasters flank the windows. The words “Parkway Theatre™ are
carved into a large band running across the center bay just below the heavily ornamental
cornice. There is a central balustrade at the top of the building, flanked a large band of
white terra cotta.

While this designation only includes the exterior of the building, it should be noted that
much of the interior of the building is in excellent condition, notably the extensive
decorative plasterwork on the walls, ceiling, and stage, the paintings on the walls and
ceiling, and the original marble stairs.



Staff Recommendation
The Parkway Theatre qualifies for landmark designation meeting the following standards:

B. A Baltimore City Landmark may be a site, structure, landscape, building (or portion
thereof), place, work of art, or other object which:

1. is associated with events that have made significant contributions to the broad
patterns of Baltimore history

3. embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction, or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic
values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose
components may lack individual distinction

The Parkway Theatre was designed in 1915 in the Italian Renaissance Revival style by
architect Oliver B. Wight for the Northern Amusement Company. It was based off the
West End Theatre in London and the Strand Theatre in New York City. The Parkway
Theatre showed vaudeville and moving pictures, and from its inception was designed to
show talking pictures — over a decade before “talkies™ were popular. It was likely the first
movie house in the United States that was wired and acoustically designed for sound. The
Parkway Theatre was one of the premier movie houses in Baltimore through the early
1950s, serving as a theatre into the 1970s.
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1914-1953, Vol. 2, 1914, Sheet 195)
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“Parkway Theatre™ ugh py Glass Negatives, Accession # P75-54-N 109¢g, c. 1905-1940 (The
Photography Collections, University of Maryland, Baltimore C ounty, copyrighted) (The films advertised
suggest the photo was taken in 1916)

“Crowd outside Parkway Theatre™ Hughes Company Glass Negatives, Accession # P75-54-A3 T7g, c.
1905-1940 (The Photography Collections, University of Maryland, Baltimore County, copyrighted)
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“Intersection of N. Charles Street and North Ave.” Hughes Company G]a%s Negatives, Accession # P75-
54-N616g. 1921. (The Photography Collections, University of Maryland, Baltimore County, copyrighted)

"Pd[’]\Wc’l\' Theane mter:or" Hughes Companv Glass Neoatlves Accession # P75-54- NMSU c. 1905-1940
(The Photography Collections, University of Maryland, Baltimore County, copyrighted)
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Parkway Theatre interior” Hughes Company Glass Negatives, Accession # P75-54-N457g, ¢. 1905-1940
(The Photography Collections. University of Maryland, Baltimore C ounty. copyrighted)

Current Photos
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Upper sto of fagade.

Detail of Cice‘
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View of Parkway from southwest corer of N. Charles and W. North Ave.
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